In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re

GREGORY GADLIN,

On Habeas Corpus.

SUPREME COURT FILED

Case No. S254599

AUG 1 5 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B289852 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BA165439 The Honorable William C. Ryan, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeal interpret article I, section 32 of the Constitution contrary to voter intent by holding that the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation must give parole consideration to offenders with a prior conviction for a registrable sex offense, despite the Department's regulatory public safety determination and the assurances to the voters that sex offenders would be excluded from parole consideration?

INTRODUCTION

Well over a decade ago, the State's prison system was placed under the supervision of a three-judge, federal court panel, which ordered the State to substantially reduce its prison inmate population. The State made significant progress, but the problem persisted. By 2014, the State faced the specter of federal courts ordering the release of state prisoners if the Department did not meet and maintain court-ordered caps on population.

Rather than allow the federal courts to control this important aspect of the state criminal justice system, then-Governor Edmund G. Brown Jr. authored Proposition 57, the Public Safety and Rehabilitation Act of 2016. The successful proposition added a constitutional provision that, among other things, provides, "Any person convicted of a nonviolent felony offense and sentenced to state prison shall be eligible for parole consideration after completing the full term for his or her primary offense." (Cal. Const., art. 1, § 32, subd. (a)(1).) This provision—Section 32—allows eligible inmates to be considered for parole before they have served additional time related to other crimes or sentencing enhancements. Section 32 also directs the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation to "adopt regulations in furtherance of these provisions," and requires the Department's Secretary to certify that the regulations "protect and enhance public safety." (*Id.*, subd. (b).)

As the concurrence below correctly observed, precisely who would benefit from Proposition 57's parole consideration was left "fuzzy" and "ambiguous at the margins." (In re Gadlin (2019) 31 Cal.App.5th 784, 793, 796 (conc. opn. of Baker, J.).) It therefore fell to the Department to draw the law's outer boundaries by regulation, exercising its broad, quasilegislative power to fill up the details left to the Department's discretion. In this effort, the Department was guided by the Governor's ballot-pamphlet assurances to the voters, including that "the most dangerous criminals" would be "[kept] behind bars"; that "sex offenders, as defined in Penal Code [section] 290," would continue to be excluded from parole consideration; and that protection of public safety would be paramount. (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) argument in favor and rebuttal to argument against Prop. 57, pp. 58-59.) In the Department's expert view, continuing to exclude all registered sex offenders from parole consideration under Proposition 57 was consistent with voter intent and best protected the public against this class of offenders whose release from prison presents unique risks to public safety.

The Court of Appeal held the text of subdivision (a)(1) of Section 32 prohibits this regulatory exclusion, as applied to registered sex offenders serving time for a non-sex-offense related conviction. (*In re Gadlin, supra*, 31 Cal.App.5th at pp. 789-790.) This was error for two reasons. First, the constitutional text cannot be read in isolation, but must be informed by the voters' understanding of Proposition 57, as set out in the ballot pamphlet. And the voters understood that all registered sex offenders would be excluded from this parole process. Second, Section 32 recognizes an overarching public safety objective. Considering the rulemaking provision of subdivision (b) in context of Section 32's overall public safety purpose, Section 32 is properly understood as authorizing the Department to exclude

all registered sex offenders from the nonviolent parole process to fulfill its constitutional obligation to protect public safety.

The Court should reverse the decision below and hold that the Department may apply the sex-offender exclusion to petitioner Gadlin and those similarly situated.

BACKGROUND

I. PRISON OVERCROWDING, FEDERAL INTERVENTION, AND THE STATE'S UNIFORM JUDGMENT REGARDING SEX OFFENDERS AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE REFORMS

In the decades following enactment of the state Uniform Determinate Sentencing Act of 1976, California's prisoner population surged. (See *Coleman v. Schwarzenegger* (E.D.Cal. 2009) 922 F.Supp.2d 882, 908.)

Despite executive and legislative efforts to manage the prisoner population, state prisons became overcrowded. (See *id.* at pp. 484-485; *Brown v. Plata* (2011) 563 U.S. 493, 502-503 [131 S.Ct. 1910, 1923-1924, 179 L.Ed.2d 969].) In 2009, a three-judge panel of the federal court ordered the State "to reduce the prisoner population to 137.5% of the adult institution's total design capacity." (*Coleman v. Schwarzenegger*, at p. 962.) The State implemented measures that released approximately 9,000 prisoners, but the federal court's order required the release of up to 37,000 additional . prisoners within a two-year window. (See *Brown v. Plata*, at pp. 501, 542.)

The Legislature endeavored to solve the overcrowding crisis at the state level to avert indiscriminate release orders from the federal courts. In 2011, it passed the Criminal Justice Realignment Act to implement community-based programs for certain felony offenders as an alternative to state-prison sentences. (Stats. 2011, ch. 15, § 1.) Under this reform, a defendant would still receive a state prison sentence, however, if he or she was convicted of a statutorily defined violent or serious felony offense or

had a current or prior conviction for a registrable sex offense. (Pen. Code, § 1170, subd. (h)(3).)

In 2014, the voters approved Proposition 47, the Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act, to reduce certain felony offenses to misdemeanors. (Pen. Code, § 1170.18.) Proposition 47, like the sex-offender exclusion in this case, disqualifies from its provisions "a person who has one or more prior convictions . . . for an offense requiring registration pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 290." (Pen. Code, § 1170.18, subd. (i).)

Despite these reforms, in 2014, the federal court ordered the State to implement additional measures to reduce the prison population. (Mot. for Jud. Not. Exhs. A, B [federal court's orders in consolidated cases *Coleman v. Brown* (E.D.Cal., No. 2:90-cv-00520) and *Plata v. Brown* (N.D.Cal., No. C01-1351)].) The federal court authorized the Department to "[c]reate and implement a new parole determination process through which non-violent second-strikers will be eligible for parole consideration by the Board of Parole Hearings once they have served 50% of their sentence." (Mot. for Jud. Not. Exh. A at p. 3.)

The Department then established a parole process for "non-violent, *non-sex-registrant*, second-strike offenders who have served 50 percent of their sentence." (Mot. for Jud. Not. Exh. C [Department's report to three-judge court], italics added.) In its report to the federal court, the Department was clear that an inmate who "is required to register pursuant to Penal Code section 290 based on a current or prior sex-offense

¹ The plaintiffs in that case did not appear to have contested this exclusion of sex offenders from parole.

conviction" is not eligible for this parole process.² (*Id.* at p. 6.) The Department explained the "[exclusionary] criteria are designed to prevent the release of inmates who pose an unreasonable risk to public safety." (*Id.* at p. 7.)

After Proposition 57 passed, the *Coleman/Plata* parties stipulated that Proposition 57's parole process "mirrors the existing court-ordered nonviolent second-strike parole process . . . [and] will utilize the same public safety screening criteria." (Mot. for Jud. Not. Exh. D at p. 25.) The three-judge court accepted the parties' stipulation, suspended its order relating to the court-ordered parole process, and authorized the Department to "implement the nonviolent offender parole process [under Proposition 57]." (Mot. for Jud. Not. Exh. E at p. 30.)

II. PROPOSITION 57'S BALLOT MATERIALS ASSURED VOTERS THAT SEX OFFENDERS WOULD BE EXCLUDED FROM NONVIOLENT PAROLE

Having achieved the benchmarks required by the federal court's order in the *Coleman/Plata* cases, Governor Brown sought to forestall recurrence of the prison-overcrowding problem. (See Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov.

² The Sex Offender Registration Act, as codified in Penal Code section 290, defines a sex offender as a person who was convicted in California of an enumerated sex offense (Pen. Code, § 290, subd. (c)), was convicted in another court of an offense that would be punished as an enumerated sex offense (*id.*, § 290.005), was adjudicated to be a sexually violent predator or a mentally disordered sex offender (*id.*, §§ 290.001, 290.004), or was ordered by a court to register as a sex offender (*id.*, § 290.006). Because of his previous convictions, Gadlin is required to register under Penal Code section 290, subdivision (c). (*In re Gadlin, supra*, 31 Cal.App.5th at p. 786.)

8, 2016) argument in favor of Prop. 57, p. 58.)³ He authored Proposition 57 to provide a durable solution to prison overcrowding and refocus the criminal justice system on rehabilitation by offering inmates additional credits for rehabilitative programming and, for low-risk inmates, an opportunity for parole. (*Ibid.*) Governor Brown patterned Proposition 57's signature parole reform in part after the existing parole process for nonviolent offenders, which, as discussed, excluded registered sex offenders. (See Mot. for Jud. Not. Exh. D at p. 25 [parties' stipulation to three-judge court that the "[Proposition 57 parole] process mirrors the existing court-ordered nonviolent second-strike parole process"].)

Governor Brown and Proposition 57's proponents explained the parole reform would reduce wasteful spending on prisons but would "[k]eep[] the most dangerous offenders locked up." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) argument in favor of Prop. 57, p. 58.) And, they noted that, to secure public safety, Proposition 57 "requires the Secretary of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation to certify that these policies [for credits and parole] are consistent with protecting and enhancing public safety." (*Ibid.*)

Opponents of Proposition 57 argued that Governor Brown's parole reforms would endanger public safety by authorizing parole release for "dangerous criminals" like sex offenders. (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) rebuttal to argument in favor of Prop. 57, p. 58.) The opponents claimed, for example, that Proposition 57 would offer parole "to criminals who are convicted of many violent and horrible crimes, including . . . rape

³ Exhibit 3 to the return to the order to show cause filed in the Court of Appeal.

of an unconscious victim, human sex trafficking" (*id.*, rebuttal to argument in favor of Prop. 57, p. 58) as well as to inmates convicted of rape by intoxication, human trafficking involving sex acts with minors, lewd acts against a child, and failing to register as a sex offender (*id.*, argument against Prop. 57, p. 59). The opponents also claimed that inmates "previously convicted of murder, rape and child molestation would be eligible for early parole." (*Id.*, rebuttal to argument in favor of Prop. 57, p. 58.)

The proponents and Governor Brown refuted these assertions, emphasizing that Proposition 57 "[d]oes NOT and will not change the federal court order that excludes sex offenders, as defined in Penal Code 290, from parole." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) rebuttal to argument against Prop. 57, p. 59.) The reference to "the federal court order" was to the parole process that the Department established to comply with the federal-court-ordered population caps. (See Mot. for Jud. Not. Exhs. A, B.) As noted, the Department excluded sex offenders from this parole process for public safety reasons. (Mot. for Jud. Not. Exh. C at pp. 14-16.) Governor Brown assured voters that if Proposition 57 passed, sex offenders would continue to be excluded, consistent with existing policy. (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) rebuttal to argument against Prop. 57, p. 59.)

To reaffirm to the voters that Proposition 57 promotes public safety, the proponents stated that the proposition's reforms would "be

⁴ The Department created the parole process as authorized by the federal court's orders, but there is no federal court order excluding sex offenders from parole. (See Mot. for Jud. Not. Exhs. A at p. 3, B at p. 8.) Rather, it was the Department's policy, for public safety reasons, to exclude sex offenders from the court-ordered parole process. (See pp. 8-9, *infra*.)

implemented through Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation regulations developed with public and victim input and certified as protecting public safety." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) rebuttal to argument against Prop. 57, p. 59.)

III. THE VOTERS APPROVED PROPOSITION 57, ADDING ARTICLE I, SECTION 32 TO THE CONSTITUTION

On November 8, 2016, California voters approved Proposition 57. The proposition added article I, section 32 to the California Constitution, which provides in full:

- (a) The following provisions are hereby enacted to enhance public safety, improve rehabilitation, and avoid the release of prisoners by federal court order, notwithstanding anything in this article or any other provision of law:
 - (1) Parole Consideration: Any person convicted of a nonviolent felony offense and sentenced to state prison shall be eligible for parole consideration after completing the full term for his or her primary offense.
 - (A) For purposes of this section only, the full term for the primary offense means the longest term of imprisonment imposed by the court for any offense, excluding the imposition of an enhancement, consecutive sentence, or alternative sentence.
 - (2) Credit Earning: The Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall have authority to award credits earned for good behavior and approved rehabilitative or educational achievements.
- (b) The Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall adopt regulations in furtherance of these provisions, and the Secretary of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall certify that these regulations protect and enhance public safety.

(Cal. Const., art. I, § 32.)

IV. AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 32, THE DEPARTMENT ADOPTED REGULATIONS ESTABLISHING THE NONVIOLENT PAROLE PROCESS

Following Proposition 57's passage, the Department initiated a rulemaking process.⁵ The Secretary certified the proposed regulations as protecting and enhancing public safety, and the Department filed them with the Office of Administrative Law. (Certif. of Operational Necessity.)⁶ The proposed regulations described the nonviolent parole process to carry out Proposition 57 and, consistent with the Department's longstanding policies and practices, excluded any inmate "[c]onvicted of a sexual offense that requires registration as a sex offender under Penal Code section 290." (Former Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3490, subd. (a)(3), Register 2017, No. 15 (Apr. 13, 2017).)

Following several public comment periods and a public hearing, the Department submitted a final statement of reasons in support of the regulations on April 30, 2018. (Apr. 30, 2018 Final Statement of Reasons, at pp. 1-3.)⁷ The Department stated, "Public safety requires that sex offenders be excluded from nonviolent parole consideration." (*Id.* at p. 20.)

⁵ The Secretary of the Department exercises plenary authority over "the supervision, management and control of the state prisons" as well as "the responsibility for the care, custody, treatment, training, discipline and employment of persons confined therein" (Pen. Code, § 5054.) To these ends, the Legislature vests the Secretary with broad power to "prescribe and amend rules and regulations for the administration of the prisons and for the administration of the parole of persons" (*Id.*, § 5058, subd. (a).)

⁶ Exhibit 4 to the return to the order to show cause filed in the Court of Appeal.

⁷ Exhibit 6 to the return to the order to show cause filed in the Court of Appeal.

The Department noted that the crimes triggering sex-offender registration under Penal Code section 290 "reflect the determination of the People of the State of California (through initiatives and the Legislature) that '[s]ex offenders pose a potentially high risk of committing further sex offenses after release from incarceration or commitment, and [the] protection of the public from reoffending by these offenders is a paramount public interest." (*Id.*, quoting Pen. Code, § 290.03, subd. (a)(1), second bracketed insertion added.)

The Department also noted that a sex offense outside the statutory definition of a violent felony nevertheless "involves some degree of physical force, coercion, or duress with the victim, often a minor." (Apr. 30, 2018 Final Statement of Reasons, at p. 20.) Regarding the recidivism risk of sex offenders, the Department quoted a United States Supreme Court opinion that stated, "When convicted sex offenders reenter society, they are much more likely than any other type of offender to be rearrested for a new rape or sexual assault." (*Id.*, quoting *McKune v. Lile* (2002) 536 U.S. 24, 33 [122 S.Ct. 2017, 2025, 153 L.Ed.2d 47].)

On May 11, 2018, the Department filed amended regulations that revised the sex-offender exclusion. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3491, Register 2018, No. 18 (May 1, 2018).) The revised regulation provided that an inmate is ineligible for parole consideration if "[t]he inmate is convicted of a sexual offense that currently requires or will require registration as a sex offender under the Sex Offender Registration Act, codified in sections 290 through 290.024 of the Penal Code." (*Id.*, subd. (b)(3).)

On December 26, 2018, the Department filed supplemental amendments to the regulations as required by *In re Edwards* (2018) 26

Cal.App.5th 1181 (*Edwards*), which held indeterminately sentenced inmates are also eligible for parole consideration under Proposition 57.8 (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, §§ 3490 et seq., Register 2018, No. 52 (Jan. 1, 2019).) Together, these amendments establish the procedures for inmates who qualify as a "determinately-sentenced nonviolent offender" (*id.*, § 3490, subd. (a), internal quotations omitted) and those who qualify as an "indeterminately-sentenced nonviolent offender" (*id.*, § 3495, subd. (a), internal quotations omitted).

The final, approved regulations identify inmates eligible for nonviolent parole consideration through lists of exclusionary criteria. For example, the regulations exclude an inmate who is condemned to death, serving a life sentence without the possibility of parole, or serving a sentence for a violent felony. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, §§ 3490, subd. (a), 3495, subd. (a).) They also exclude any inmate who has been scheduled for a youth-offender parole hearing or an elderly parole hearing or will be eligible for such a hearing within one year. (*Id.*, § 3491, subd. (b)(2).) And the regulations exclude from the nonviolent parole process any inmate who "is convicted of a sexual offense that currently requires or will require registration as a sex offender under the Sex Offender Registration Act" (*Id.*, §§ 3491, subd. (b)(3), 3496, subd. (b).) Inmates who do not fall into one of the excluded categories are eligible for parole consideration by the Board of Parole Hearings. (*Id.*, §§ 3491, subd. (a), 3496, subd. (a).)

⁸ Under the Three Strikes law, a defendant with two or more qualifying felony convictions is sentenced to an indeterminate term of life in prison for a current conviction of a serious or violent felony offense. (Pen. Code, § 667, subd. (e)(2)(A).) Before *Edwards*, inmates serving an indeterminate sentence for a nonviolent felony offense were not eligible for parole consideration.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2007, Gregory Gadlin was convicted of assault with a deadly weapon. (*In re Gadlin, supra*, 31 Cal.App.5th at p. 786.) Gadlin was previously convicted of forcible rape and forcible child molestation, which subjected him to sentencing under the Three Strikes law to an indeterminate term of 35 years to life in prison. (*Id.* at pp. 786-787.) Gadlin's convictions for forcible rape in violation of Penal Code section 261 and forcible child molestation in violation of Penal Code section 288 required him to register as a sex offender. (Pen. Code, § 290, subd. (c); *In re Gadlin*, at p. 786.)

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