SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

NOV 1 5 2019

No. S254599

Jorge wavarrete Clerk

Deputy

In re GREGORY GADLIN on Habeas Corpus.

Court of Appeal of California Second District, Division Five No. B289852

Superior Court of California Los Angeles County No. BA165439 Hon. William C. Ryan

Answer Brief on the Merits

Michael Satris (SBN # 67413) Law Office of Michael Satris PO Box 337 Bolinas, CA 94924 (415) 868-9209 fax: (415) 868-2658 satrislaw.eservice@gmail.com

Attorney for Petitioner Gregory Gadlin

Issue Presented

Did the Court of Appeal correctly grant Gadlin habeas relief from CDCR's exclusion of him from Proposition 57's mandate that CDCR provide early parole consideration to "any person convicted of a nonviolent felony offense" (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subd. (a)(1)), where the exclusion was based not on any current conviction of a violent felony offense, but simply on his status as a sex-offender registrant due to a prior conviction?

Summary of Argument

CDCR denied Gadlin early parole consideration under Proposition 57 pursuant to its blanket exclusion of all sexoffender registrants from such consideration – regardless of how old or minor and nonviolent their registrable convictions may have been and regardless of how nonviolent their current felony conviction may be. CDCR did so in the face of an explicit duty Proposition 57 imposed on it to provide early parole consideration to all its prisoners serving sentences for nonviolent offenses.

CDCR's regulatory exclusion from early parole consideration of its nonviolent offenders who must register due to a prior registrant conviction was based simply on its own determination that registrants inherently and forever are too dangerous to even be considered for early release. The electorate, however, determined that the line separating those who qualify for early parole consideration and those who do not should be drawn between those serving a sentence for a nonviolent felony and those serving a sentence for a violent felony. Overruling that determination, CDCR substituted its own determination that a further line should be drawn between those who need not register as a sex offender and those who must register. That line makes prior registrant convictions the only prior convictions -- violent or nonviolent, felony or misdemeanor -- that disqualify a nonviolent offender from early parole consideration. Nothing in the language of the proposition even hints at such disqualification.

CDCR claims authority to make this exception based on the proposition's direction in Section 32(b) that it promulgate regulations to carry out the programs for early parole consideration and expanded credit earning that Section 32(a) established. But CDCR may not, under the guise of its rulemaking power to implement how the program for early parole should operate, arrogate to itself the electorate's policy determination of who qualifies for early parole consideration. The electorate spoke on that question in no uncertain terms, specifying that "any person convicted of a nonviolent felony offense" was entitled to early parole consideration. It delegated to

CDCR only the authority to determine how that early parole consideration program should work, not who qualified for it. And to the extent that the electorate delegated to CDCR the determination of which offenses are nonviolent felonies within the meaning of the provision for early parole consideration, the electorate limited that determination to current felony convictions, so that CDCR's exclusion based on prior registrant convictions – including prior misdemeanor convictions – fell outside its delegated powers.

According to CDCR, the voters intended to leave to its "expert view" the determination of what "class of offenders" was too dangerous to consider for early parole. (OB 11.) To the contrary: The electorate determined which class of offenders was entitled to early parole consideration by extending such to all those convicted of a nonviolent felony, and left the determination of dangerousness for the Board of Parole Hearings to make on an individual basis from that class of offenders. The electorate indicated this intent by the principal way it always does – by the clear and unambiguous language of the text itself. To the degree consideration of the ballot materials may be necessary to divine the electorate's intent, those materials reinforce the conclusion that the electorate intended to provide early parole consideration to all current nonviolent offenders, without any carve-out of those offenders with prior registrant convictions on their record, and to leave the dangerousness determination for actually release to the Board upon individual consideration. Moreover, the provision of early parole consideration to as many nonviolent offenders as possible furthers the proposition's goal of reducing the prison

population to achieve its stated purposes of enhancing public safety, improving rehabilitation, and avoiding the release of prisoners by federal court order.

For all these reasons, the Court should affirm the decision below, holding – as that court did -- that those serving sentences for nonviolent felonies like Gadlin may not be excluded from early parole consideration based on a prior conviction for a registrant offense.

Statement of Facts

A. Proposition 57.

On November 8, 2016, California voters approved Proposition 57. (See also *In re Edwards* (2018) 26 Cal.App.5th 1181, 1185 ["California voters approved Proposition 57, dubbed the Public Safety and Rehabilitation Act of 2016, at the November 2016 general election"].)

Proposition 57's preamble expressed the measure's "Purpose and Intent." (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) text of Prop. 57, § 2, p. 141.¹) "As relevant here, the (uncodified) text of Proposition 57 declares the voters' purposes in approving the measure were to: '1. Protect and enhance public safety. [¶] 2. Save money by reducing wasteful spending on prisons. [¶] 3. Prevent federal courts from indiscriminately releasing prisoners.

The Voter Information Guide can be found in the record as Exhibit 3, pp. 15–21, supporting the return to the order to show cause filed in the Court of Appeal. (See OB 15, fn. 3.)

[¶] 4. Stop the revolving door of crime by emphasizing rehabilitation, especially for juveniles.' [Citation.]" (*In re Edwards*, *supra*, 26 Cal.App.5th at p. 1185.)

Among other things, Proposition 57 added article I, section 32 to the California Constitution², which "significantly expanded parole consideration to all state prisoners convicted of a nonviolent felony offense." (*In re Gadlin* (2019) 31 Cal.App.5th 784, 786, review granted May 15, 2019, No. S254599, citing Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subd. (a)(1); see also *Brown v. Superior Court* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 335, 341–342, emphasis in original [thenproposed Section 32(a)(1) was "a constitutional amendment that would significantly modify parole consideration for *all* state prisoners 'convicted of a nonviolent felony offense"].)

Section 32 provides in full:

- (a) The following provisions are hereby enacted to enhance public safety, improve rehabilitation, and avoid the release of prisoners by federal court order, notwithstanding anything in this article or any other provision of law:
 - (1) Parole Consideration: Any person convicted of a nonviolent felony offense and sentenced to state prison shall be eligible for parole consideration after completing the full term for his or her primary offense.
 - (A) For purposes of this section only, the full term for the primary offense means the longest term of imprisonment imposed by the court for

Unless otherwise specified, references in this brief to sections are to this section of the California Constitution, with its subsections often referred to as Section 32(a) or Section 32(b).

any offense, excluding the imposition of an enhancement, consecutive sentence, or alternative sentence.

- (2) Credit Earning: The Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall have authority to award credits earned for good behavior and approved rehabilitative or educational achievements.
- (b) The Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall adopt regulations in furtherance of these provisions, and the Secretary of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall certify that these regulations protect and enhance public safety.

(Cal. Const., art. I, § 32; see also *In re Edwards*, *supra*, 26 Cal.App.5th at p. 1185 ["Under section 32(a)(1), 'Any person convicted of a nonviolent felony offense and sentenced to state prison shall be eligible for parole consideration after completing the full term for his or her primary offense.' (§ 32(a)(1)].) And for purposes of section 32(a)(1), 'the full term for the primary offense means the longest term of imprisonment imposed by the court for any offense, excluding the imposition of an enhancement, consecutive sentence, or alternative sentence.' (§ 32(a)(1)(A).)"].)

Although Section 32(a)(1) did not define "nonviolent offense," "Penal Code section 667.5, subdivision (c) defines 23 criminal violations, or categories of crimes, as violent felonies—including murder, voluntary manslaughter, any robbery, kidnapping, various specified sex crimes, and other offenses." (In re Edwards, supra, 26 Cal.App.5th at p. 1188, fn. 3.) It was generally understood that a nonviolent felony offense included any felony

not on the legislative list of felony offenses. (See, e.g., Voter Information Guide, *supra*, Prop. 57 analysis by the Legislative Analyst, p. 57 ["this analysis assumes a nonviolent felony offense would include any felony offense that is not specifically defined in statute as violent"]; Voter Information Guide, *supra*, rebuttal to argument against Proposition 57, p. 59 ["Prop. 57: ... [d]oes NOT authorize parole for violent offenders.... Violent criminals as defined by Penal Code 667.5(c) are excluded from parole."].) In sum, "[a] review of the material provided by the 2016 voter information pamphlet suggests that the enactors define 'nonviolent felony' as any crime not listed in section 667.5, subdivision (c)." (Couzens & Bigelow, Proposition 57: "The Public Safety and Rehabilitation Act of 2016" (May 2017 Barrister Press) 6, found online at www.courts.ca.gov/documents/prop57-Parole-and-Credits-Memo.pdf.)

B. CDCR's Implementing Regulations and Judicial Invalidation of Features of Them that Deprived Categories of Nonviolent Offenders from Early Parole Consideration.

"Proposition 57 directed CDCR to adopt regulations 'in furtherance of section 32(a)' and 'certify that these regulations protect and enhance public safety.' (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subd. (b)." (*In re Edwards, supra*, 26 Cal.App.5th at p. 1187, brackets in quote deleted.)

As recounted in *Edwards*, which invalidated CDCR's regulatory exclusion of third strikers whose life terms arose from

conviction of a nonviolent felony, CDCR at first excluded both third strikers and sex-offender registrants from its regulatory definition of "nonviolent offender":

In April 2017, California's Office of Administrative Law (OAL) approved an "emergency rulemaking action" promulgated by CDCR in response to section 32(b)'s direction. The rulemaking purported to flesh out the terms of section 32(a), adding definitions of "nonviolent offender," "primary offense," and "full term." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, former § 3490.) Most relevant here was the definition of nonviolent offender, which the emergency regulations defined as all inmates except those who (1) are "[c]ondemned, incarcerated for a term of life without the possibility of parole, or incarcerated for a term of life with the possibility of parole," (2) are incarcerated for a violent felony within the meaning of Penal Code section 667.5, subdivision (c), or (3) have been convicted of a sexual offense that requires registration as a sex offender. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, former § 3490, subd. (a), italics [modified]; see also Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, former § 2449.1, subd. (a).) With this definition, inmates like Edwards [] who were not then incarcerated for a triggering violent felony specified in Penal Code section 667.5 were nevertheless excluded from the "nonviolent offender" definition

(In re Edwards, supra, 26 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1187–1188, emphasis changed.) Thus, under these regulations, inmates like Gadlin who were not then incarcerated for a triggering violent felony specified in Penal Code section 667.5 were nevertheless excluded from the "nonviolent offender" definition because they had a conviction for a registrable offense. (See also OB, quoting former Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3490, subd. (a)(3), Register 2017,

No. 15 (Apr. 13, 2017), brackets omitted [CDCR's regulatory definition of "nonviolent offender" excluded "any inmate 'convicted of a sexual offense that requires registration as a sex offender under Penal Code section 290"].)

CDCR issued final regulations that amended its regulatory section 3490 defining nonviolent offenders to *include* nonviolent third-strike and sex-registrant offenders, effectively requiring the commission of a violent offense within the meaning of section 667.5 to place the offender outside the definition of "nonviolent offender"; but then it turned right around and excluded third strikers and registrant offenders committed to prison for a nonviolent felony from early parole consideration "notwithstanding" they were nonviolent offenders. Again, *Edwards* recounted the regulatory change:

When it later came time to issue final, adopted regulations in May 2018 after a public comment period, CDCR reconsidered its definition of nonviolent offender. The adopted regulations, now codified at sections 3490 and 2449.1 of title 15 of the California Code of Regulations, no longer exclude Edwards and others like him from the nonviolent offender definition. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3490, subd. (a) [providing an inmate is a nonviolent offender so long as the inmate is not, among other things [irrelevant here], condemned to death, serving a life without possibility of parole sentence, or serving a sentence for commission of a violent felony within the meaning of Pen. Code, § 667.5, subd. (c)]; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 2449.1, subd. (a) [same].)

Although the adopted regulations therefore treat Edwards as a nonviolent offender, CDCR made another change in the regulations as adopted so that he and similarly situated others would remain ineligible for Proposition 57 relief. Specifically, the adopted regulations state nonviolent inmates are generally eligible for early parole consideration (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3491, subd. (a)), but notwithstanding that general eligibility, "an inmate is not eligible for parole consideration by the Board of Parole Hearings if the inmate is currently incarcerated for a term of life with the possibility of parole for an offense that is not a violent felony" (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3491, subd. (b)(1)).

(In re Edwards, supra, 26 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1187–1188.)

Likewise, notwithstanding the general eligibility of nonviolent offenders for early parole consideration, nonviolent registrants were excluded from that consideration. (See, e.g., OB 19, quoting Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3491, subd. (b)(3), Register 2018, No. 18 (May 1, 2018) [notwithstanding meeting the regulatory definition of nonviolent offender, "an inmate is ineligible for parole consideration if 'the inmate is convicted of a sexual offense that currently requires or will require registration as a sex offender under the Sex Offender Registration Act, codified in sections 290 through 290.024 of the Penal Code"]; In re Gadlin, supra, 31 Cal.App.5th at p. 788, quoting Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3491, subd. (b)(3) ["CDCR's regulations exclude from early parole consideration an inmate who 'is convicted of a sexual offense that currently requires or will require registration as a sex

Edwards further reported:

In a final statement of reasons accompanying the adopted regulations, CDCR asserted "life term inmates remain ineligible for parole consideration because the plain text of Proposition 57 makes clear that parole eligibility only applies to determinately sentenced inmates, and furthermore, public safety requires their exclusion." (CDCR, Credit Earning and Parole Consideration Final Statement of Reasons (Apr. 30, 2018) p. 14.3)

(In re Edwards, supra, 26 Cal.App.5th at p. 1188.)

Although CDCR notably did not base its maintenance of its ban on early parole consideration for nonviolent offenders with prior registrant offenses on either the text of the initiative or the electorate's intent, it likewise supported that ban on the ground of public safety, stating:

Public safety requires that sex offenders be excluded from nonviolent parole consideration.... [¶]... The department has determined that ... sex offenses demonstrate a sufficient degree of force and represent an unreasonable risk to public safety to require sex offenders be excluded from nonviolent parole consideration.

(CDCR Final Statement, *supra*, p. 20; see also *In re Gadlin*, *supra*, 31 Cal.App.5th at p. 788 [quoting same].)

Edwards voided CDCR's regulatory exclusion of nonviolent third strikers from early parole consideration and ordered CDCR "to make any further conforming changes thereafter necessary to render the regulations adopted pursuant to California Constitution, article I, section 32, (b) consistent with section 32(a) and this opinion." (In re Edwards, supra, 26 Cal.App.5th at pp.

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